ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APR 23 2013

Appeal from Charleston County

SC Court of Appeals

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CORY GETHERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-204886

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by permitting the State to impeach Appellant on cross-examination by reading aloud before the jury from a document and questioning Appellant after each line read where the document was never entered into evidence, where the State relied upon the document in its closing argument, and where the jury specifically requested to see the document during deliberations?
  
- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by preventing Counsel from cross-examining the State's only witness at trial regarding the details of excessive force used by the witness when arresting Appellant and the possibility of a lawsuit stemming from it, where Appellant sought to impeach the witness by showing bias, prejudice, or motive to misrepresent in order to avoid the possibility of a civil lawsuit?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Corey L. Gethers was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury on March 1, 2010, for failure to stop for a blue light (FSBL), and assault on a police officer while resisting arrest. R. 4, lines 1-3; R. 187 (Indictments). The charges stemmed from an incident on the night of December 21, 2009. The State disposed of the charge of assault on a police officer while resisting arrest by *nolle prosequi* on December 6, 2011, but first proceeded to trial for FSBL before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury from December 1st through 2nd, 2011. R. 1, R. 6, line 21—R. 7, line 4; R. 190 (Indictment/Warrant Status Change Form). Andrew David Grimes and Victoria Anderson (collectively, “Counsel”) represented Appellant, while James P. Stack represented the State. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty of FSBL. R. 177, lines 4-15. He was sentenced to one year incarceration with credit for time served. R. 184, lines 4-8.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Corey L. Gethers was in a Suzuki Forenza (Forenza) on the night of December 21, 2009. According to his trial testimony, Appellant was picked up from his residence in North Charleston earlier that night by his friend, Tony, in order to get dropped-off at the Royal Z Lanes bowling alley in Goose Creek. R. 92, line 2-21; R. 94, lines 14—R. 95, line 13; R. 127, line 24—R. 128, line 8. Additionally, Appellant also stated that another passenger, Roy, was in the car when Tony arrived. R. 92, line 22—R. 93, line 5; R. 95, lines 15-20. As a result, Appellant indicated that he rode in the back seat of the Forenza next to the base to a child safety seat.<sup>1</sup> R. 95, line 21—R. 96, line 6.

Appellant further testified that Tony had to make a stop at Rivals Sports Bar (Rivals) on the way. R. 96, lines 7-13. After arriving at Rivals, Roy exited the Forenza and entered the bar. Appellant indicated that Roy got back into the Forenza approximately 15 minutes later, and Tony drove out of the parking lot to drop-off Appellant at the bowling alley. R. 96, line 11—R. 97, line 2; R. 113, lines 4-23.

At approximately 10:00 pm, Deputy Jason Cain (Cain), of the Charleston County Sheriff's Office, observed the Forenza exiting the parking lot of Rivals onto State Highway 78 (Hwy. 78). Cain turned his marked police cruiser round, and followed the Forenza. R. 32, lines 1-5; R. 113, lines 4-23. Appellant stated that he ducked down in the back seat when the police cruiser turned to follow. R. 113, line 24—R. 114, line 13; R. 123, lines 2-25. Cain claimed to see the Forenza stop for a red light beyond the stop line at the intersection of Hwy. 78 and College Park Road. He initiated his blue lights, the red light

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant stated that the child safety seat base was not buckled to the seat. R. 95, line 25—R. 96, line 6; R. 133, line 16—R. 134, line 10.

turned green, and the Forenza proceeded into the parking lot of the nearby Piggly Wiggly. R. 32, lines 5-19; R. ii, (State Exhibit 1, DVD).

Once in the parking lot the Forenza accelerated, exited back onto Hwy. 78, and then turned down Ladson Road. After reaching speeds over 100 miles per hour, the car chase finally ended on One Notch Street in the Summerwood subdivision. R. 32, lines 19-24; R. 33, line 13—R. 34, line 10; R. ii, (State Exhibit 1, DVD).

According to Appellant's testimony, Tony and Roy immediately ran out of the Forenza, and Appellant followed out behind Tony because he was scared and did not know what was in the car.<sup>2</sup> R. 116, lines 4-24; R. 140, lines 2-25. Cain caught-up to Appellant as Appellant tried to climb a wooden fence. Cain then shocked Appellant eight to fifteen times with his taser;<sup>3</sup> he also pulled his service gun and threatened to put a "cap" into Appellant. R. 35, lines 2-9; R. 114, line 24—R. 115, line 25; R. ii, (State Exhibit 1, DVD).

During Appellant's trial, Counsel repeatedly attempted to impeach Cain's credibility and show bias or motive to misrepresent by questioning Cain about the use of excessive force when he handcuffed Appellant. However, the trial court sustained the State's objections on the basis of relevance. R. 63, line 2—R. 66, line 18. Although Counsel was able to get Cain to admit before the jury that he could be reprimanded or prosecuted for using excessive force, Counsel had to make an in camera proffer regarding deeper questions

---

<sup>2</sup> Cain indicated that he only saw two individuals in the Forenza, and that the person he saw leaving the driver seat and whom he chased was Appellant. R. 35, lines 13-20; R. 46, lines 1-3; R. 47, lines 16-23. As Cain also testified, no street lights were in the area, it was very dark, and one could not see anything without a flashlight. R. 41, lines 18-21.

<sup>3</sup> Cain admits to shocking Appellant eight times with his taser, while Appellant indicated he was shocked approximately fifteen times by Cain. R. 35, lines 2-4; R. 115, lines 21-25.

attacking Cain's credibility on the matter. R. 66, line 19—R. 67, line 7; R. 74, line 10—R. 78, line 18. Specifically, Counsel argued the testimony was relevant to show a bias by Cain against Appellant to see that Appellant is convicted in order to prevent ramifications against himself, such as a civil lawsuit:

I said I believe it would be relevant, because it shows [Cain] may have a bias against [Appellant] to get a conviction here *to prevent, perhaps, a civil lawsuit.*

.....

Well, that would be our position, though, that *if someone could be facing a civil lawsuit, it would be a great incentive, I think, and as the Court would know, he would have more sympathy from a jury if it is a convicted defendant as opposed to an acquitted person.*

R. 78, lines 22-24; R. 80, lines 9-13 (emphasis added). The trial court ruled that such questioning was not germane to the charge of FSBL, that Counsel must prove that a civil lawsuit is pending, and although there was approximately twenty days left for Appellant to file a civil lawsuit against Cain for use of excessive force, it was unlikely to occur:

*You would have to prove that there was actually a suit pending. Otherwise, it's speculative and it leaves something really very misleading in the jury's mind and leaves the Court in the posture of having to explain to them about a civil suit, about the statute of limitations, and it gets to be very sticky and it's really tangential to the entire issue. If he were, in fact, still proceeding on the assaulting a police officer while resisting arrest, I think all that would be germane. It would go to the amount of force used, if he was lawfully resisting an arrest, but to say that if he filed a lawsuit in the next fifteen days, which is what would be required in order for him to meet his applicable statute of limitations, it gets into a whole 'nother level of issue, because not only does it have to be relevant, it can't be information that has the potential to mislead the jury, and in this case, it would, because you're dealing with legal principles that would have to be explained to them: If the lawsuit has not been filed, there is an applicable statute of*

*limitations that expires on Wednesday the 21st of December, which is about two weeks from now. So, that means he would have to find a civil lawyer, have somebody willing to do it. In addition to that, he would have to hire an expert on excessive force, and the last time I checked, they cost about \$40,000.00. There is only one guy in the country, almost, that does them and he's out of Atlanta and he requires payment in advance. Just so you know, that's how it works. I used to do those kinds of cases and that was ten years ago when he charged \$40,000.00. I don't know what his fee is now. So, the bottom line becomes, beyond all of that is, has he filed a suit? He hasn't. Is there potential for him to file a suit before the statute of limitations? Could he? Anything is possible. I don't know any lawyer that would take on that type of case. Federal Court is totally different. The burden is incredibly high. As a matter of fact, at the Directed Verdict stage in Federal Court, the Federal Judge has the ability to weigh the evidence and dismiss it and if he does not feel or she feels that it does not meet the appropriate burden of proof and it requires them to weigh the evidence that has been submitted. So, it's sort of misleading to the jury to say, "Didn't you do all these things because you are trying to avoid civil liability." When, in fact, a civil suit hasn't been filed and the likelihood of one being filed is really slim to none at this point. Now, if, in fact, the State were proceeding on the assault of a police officer while resisting arrest, I think all that would be germane, because it would go to whether he resisted, lawfully resisted the arrest, whether there was proportionate force, whether he accidentally injured the officer because he alleges that he was tased, you know, like so many different times. But you can hear on the video, although the officer was narrating it and no one objected, you can hear that he is not being compliant with being arrested. And so, what you then do is, you sorta fudge the issues, which is in this case, the only thing that is relevant on a failure to stop for a blue light are the elements of, one, did he fail to stop? Which is -- Well, let me back up, because I am getting a little ahead of myself. Which is, the State has to prove he was driving the car, which also shows the issue of identity. The State then also has to prove that he was signaled appropriately by law enforcement, which means a siren or flashing lights, and that he didn't stop and whether*

there were any mitigating circumstances that would justify him not stopping. For example: an emergency, bad road conditions, lighting, and other things that concern passenger safety. A lot of women don't stop in dark areas and that's one of those things that you would consider, especially with the possibility of them being injured and it might not be the police. So, there is no harm or foul going into a lighted area or to a police station or otherwise and maintain a moderate speed and not stopping. *I think, clearly, all of those things have been articulated and recognized as mitigating factors that the jury would consider.* Again, they would have to prove that it was an official signal, that being, a siren or flashing lights. Both are not required. And then, you know, of course the other things regarding speed. That's an evidentiary, you know, whether a person increased their speed to avoid being captured. *So, those are the only elements that are really relevant to the case for failure to stop for a blue light.*

R. 80, line 14—R. 83, line 20 (emphasis added).

The court determined that the defense failed to show an excessive force complaint was actually filed, that Cain was subject to disciplinary action, or that Cain's job was in jeopardy. Thus, the trial court held that, although credibility is always an issue, the defense failed to connect it with the testimony Counsel attempted to elicit:

*Now, credibility is always an issue, but I've not seen any connection between what you have attempted to elicit, which really what you are eliciting really is germane to the issue of assaulting a police officer while resisting arrest, but that charge has been nolle prossed. But if there -- you haven't shown that an Excessive Force Complaint was filed. You haven't proven that he was subject to any disciplinary action, although I did let you go into some of that before the jury. You haven't indicated that his job was actually in jeopardy. So, those things would be relevant to his credibility. He actually faced them. But you can't sort of throw stuff, you know, at a jury and see what will stick. You have to have a good faith basis in asking those questions and some underlying factors to support it and it simply is not apparent, nor has it been elicited in this case. And you can --I mean, I don't know if the State wants to*

ask the witness if he was subject to any disciplinary proceedings as a result of this, or whether was an Excessive Force Complaint was ever filed.

R. 83, line 21—R. 84, line 14 (emphasis added). As a result, Counsel was not allowed to cross-examine Cain before the jury on the matter.

Additionally, Appellant testified at his trial as well. During cross-examination, the State sought to use Defense Exhibit No. 2, a “tow sheet,” to impeach Appellant’s assertion that only the base to one child safety seat was in the back seat with him. Specifically, the State inquired as follows:

Q. *You stated you were in the back seat. Is that correct?*

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And when Defense Counsel Anderson spoke with you, your statement was, that you were on the back seat on the passenger side. Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. So, you are in the back seat on the passenger side and in that back seat were also two child seats. Isn't that correct?

A. No, sir.

.....

Q. I am going to show you Defense Exhibit, Defense Exhibit No.2, *which has already been entered into evidence.*

R. 120, lines 9-24 (emphasis added); R. 185 (Defense Exhibit 2, I.D. Only—Tow Sheet).

Counsel immediately objected on the basis of improper impeachment.<sup>4</sup> The trial court overruled Counsel's objection, and held as follows:

Overruled. It goes to his knowledge of what was actually in the vehicle. *It's an extraneous statement and serves to impeach his testimony. You may proceed. He was given the opportunity answer the question affirmatively, "yes, or no". You may proceed.*

R. 121, lines 3-7 (emphasis added). As a result, the State was permitted to read verbatim from the un-entered exhibit, and ask Appellant questions line by line:

Q. I am going to read this paragraph to you and would you read along with me, please?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. "Inventory by Deputy and Wrecker Driver." Okay?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And underneath it says, "Miscellaneous papers". Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. "Factory radio." Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And "Two child seats." Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And "one brown jacket"?

---

<sup>4</sup> Although Counsel utilized Defense Exhibit No. 2 during the re-cross examination of Cain, the exhibit was expressly marked for identification purposes only; it was never entered into evidence. R. 3; R. 69, line 13—R. 70, line 6; R. 185 (Defense Exhibit 2, I.D. Only—Tow Sheet).

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. And is there a signature of the wrecker company?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And there is the signature of the deputy. Is that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Thank you. But your statement is, there was only part of one?

A. No, there was just the base of a baby seat.

R. 121, line 8—R. 122, line 6.

The State further relied upon the tow sheet in its closing argument to the jury to attack Appellant's testimony that he was not driving the Forenza, but was in the back seat of the vehicle. Specifically, the State argued as follows:

*But the Defendant says he wasn't driving the car. He says he was in the back seat even before the lights come on. You don't see any indication that he is back there, but you know he jumped out, or you heard the cop testify he jumped out of the front seat. You see evidence, or you will see evidence, that tow sheet, where there were two child seats in that back seat. I asked the officer, "Were they laying there or were they strapped in by regulation with seat belts? He said they were strapped in. Two child seats, not a part of one laying there. When you look at the tow sheet, which is Defense Exhibit No.2, I believe---*

R. 159, lines 9-19 (emphasis added). Counsel immediately objected based on the State arguing an item that was not in evidence. R. 159, lines 20-22. After a bench conference, the State utilized the testimony it elicited regarding the tow sheet:

You have heard the testimony from the Defendant in this case *when I showed him this tow sheet that the Defense put in without contest.* I asked the Defendant, "Were there

miscellaneous papers there?" "Yes." "Was there a brown jacket there?" "Yes." And then I asked Mr. Gethers, does this tow sheet indicate there are two child seats in that car? And what did Mr. Gethers say? "Yes. There are two child seats indicated in that car by that tow sheet." And I asked him, "Who signed this down here? Is there a signature under the wrecker, the tow guy that comes out and pulls the car from the crime scene?" "Yes. The wrecker signed the sheet indicating the inventory." And who else signed this sheet? And Mr. Gethers, according to his testimony, said Deputy Cain and the tow truck driver, the wrecker driver, both signed that inventory sheet which indicated two car seats, two child's car seats and from the testimony of Deputy Cain, who indicated they were in the back seat and were properly strapped in by whatever regulations require.

R. 160, lines 1-19 (emphasis added).

Finally, during its deliberations, the jury specifically requested to see the tow sheet. However, because the exhibit was for identification purposes only and never entered into evidence, the trial court did not send Defense Exhibit No. 2 back to the jury. R. 175, lines 1-15; R. 186 (Court Exhibit 4, Question From the Jury). The jury later returned a verdict of guilt for FSBL, and the trial court imposed a sentence of one year. R. 177, lines 4-15; R. 184, lines 4-8.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by permitting the State to impeach Appellant on cross-examination by reading aloud before the jury from a and questioning Appellant after each line read where the document was never entered into evidence, where the State relied upon the document in its closing argument, and where the jury specifically requested to see the document during deliberations.**

Appellant asserts that the trial court reversibly erred by permitting improper impeachment of Appellant by the State during cross-examination. The court's ruling indicates that the State was permitted to impeach Appellant with the tow sheet as a prior inconsistent writing. However, contrary to the court's ruling, the tow sheet was not proper for impeachment of Appellant's testimony. Further, because the writing does not qualify as a prior inconsistent statement, and because it was not entered into evidence, the State should not have been allowed to verbally publish the contents to the jury by reading from the document verbatim in its questioning of Appellant. Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, the State was permitted to ask Appellant what he saw in the back seat of the Forenza; however, it had to live with the response given by the Appellant without resorting to extrinsic evidence for impeachment purposes. Thus, the trial court erred in allowing the State to impeach Appellant on cross-examination by resorting to extrinsic information that was never entered into evidence.

Furthermore, Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's error. The State not only read aloud the contents of the tow sheet to the jury, but it also explicitly relied upon the tow sheet in its closing argument to the jury in an effort to discredit Appellant's testimony regarding his position in the back seat of the Forenza. Moreover, the jury clearly focused on this information during its deliberations, as it specifically requested to see the document. Appellant's testimony and credibility were central to his defense, especially where the case

literally came down to a credibility contest between Appellant and Cain. As a result, Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's erroneous admission of improper impeachment of Appellant's testimony. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests reversal of his conviction, and remand for a new trial.

Rule 613(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs the admission of extrinsic evidence of prior inconsistent statements of a witness. Specifically, the rule provides in pertinent part as follows:

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