STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2011-204886

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

COREY GETHERS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 79818

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 11 2013

SC Court of Appeals

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

By the time defense counsel objected to the State's use of the tow sheet in its cross-examination of Appellant, the information on the tow sheet that two child safety seats were found in the car had already been referred to. Additionally, Deputy Cain had already testified to his personal observation of two child safety seats in the car when he stopped it. Thus, any information obtained after Appellant's objection was cumulative and there would have been no basis to exclude the tow sheet at that point. In Page, 378 S.C. at 482-83, 663 S.E.2d at 360, after defense counsel had cross-examined a detective, the State moved to admit an unredacted statement on the basis that Page had opened the door to the testimony contained in the statement due to his questions to the detective. The trial court admitted the statement based on defense counsel's "opening the door." Id. at 483, 663 S.E.2d at 360. However, this Court found the trial court's ruling in error. Id. Nevertheless, this Court found that any resulting error was harmless, finding the contents of the statement were "merely cumulative to the evidence already on the record." Id. at 484-85, 663 S.E.2d at 361.

When Appellant objected on the basis of improper impeachment to the State's use of the tow sheet to impeach Appellant, the trial court overruled the objection. In her ruling, the trial judge stated, "It goes to his knowledge of what was actually in the vehicle. It's an extraneous statement and serves to impeach his testimony. You may proceed. He was given the opportunity to answer the question affirmatively, 'yes' or 'no[.]'" Appellant attempts to explain the trial court's ruling based on two different rules of evidence the court never mentioned. Appellant first argues the trial court overruled the objection based on Rule 613(b), SCRE. On the contrary, Rule 613(b), SCRE, applies to

prior inconsistent statements by a witness and does not apply to this situation at all. Likewise, Appellant's next suggestion that the impeachment was improper under Rule 608(b), SCRE, is similarly inapplicable. That rule involves conduct of a witness and has no bearing on a document such as the tow sheet.

While the trial court's ruling does not appear to have been based on one of the above rules, as Appellant argues, the State acknowledges its ruling is a bit unclear. However, regardless of the reasoning behind the ruling, no harm occurred by the trial court's allowing the State to question Appellant using the tow sheet. No new information was presented that had not already come out properly and without objection. Thus, even if the trial court erred in allowing the State to use the tow sheet to impeach Appellant, any error was harmless due to the fact that the tow sheet's information regarding the number of child safety seats was already presented to the jury without objection through both direct and cross-examination of Deputy Cain. See Page, 378 S.C. at 484-85, 663 S.E.2d at 361 (finding any resulting error harmless when the contents of the statement were "merely cumulative to the evidence already on the record.").

South Carolina courts have not examined this specific issue. However, other jurisdictions have considered similar issues concerning unadmitted evidence and provide some insight. The Court of Appeals of North Carolina has held a court's mistaken reference to an exhibit not in evidence does not require reversal. State v. Haskins, 238 S.E.2d 196 (N.C. 1977). In Haskins, the trial court mistakenly made reference to an exhibit that had been used during a *voir dire* hearing but had not been admitted into evidence. Id. at 198. The trial court corrected its mistake by asking the jurors to strike the reference from their minds. Id. The Court of Appeals determined the mistake had no bearing on the outcome of the case. Id.

The Superior Court of Pennsylvania has held that submission of unadmitted evidence to the jury is not reversible error. Commonwealth v. Hoke, 552 A.2d 1099 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1989). In Hoke, a diagram was used as an exhibit during an officer's testimony but was not admitted into evidence. Id. at 1101. Nevertheless, the diagram was mistakenly given to the jury when it began deliberations. Id. Because the exhibit was in the jury room for a brief time, the appellant moved for a mistrial, claiming it was so prejudicial it resulted in the denial of a fair trial. Id. The Superior Court found the diagram's mistaken, brief presence in the jury room had no prejudicial effect on the appellant's right to a fair trial. Id. at 1102. The court based its decision on the fact that the exhibit was marked for identification and the jury already had prior exposure to it when the Commonwealth made references to it during trial, combined with the instructions the trial court gave to the jury to ensure the exhibit would not be a factor in its decision. Id.

In Lewis v. State, 631 S.W.2d 813 (Tex. 1982), the Court of Appeals of Texas held there was no error when it found no bad faith on the part of a prosecutor who referred to a jacket that had not been admitted into evidence but had been identified and discussed in the testimony of more than one witness. Two witnesses testified without objection to the jacket. Id. at 815. The prosecutor also referred to the jacket during his closing argument, and the appellant objected to his specific comment regarding an officer's testimony about the jacket. Id. The trial court overruled the objection, and the Court of Appeals found the reference was not in error because there was no showing of bad faith on the part of the prosecutor. Id.

The above cases are not completely on point for this precise set of circumstances. However, each examines other instances in which exhibits not admitted into evidence

were in some way mistakenly treated as admitted evidence. The courts in all three cases determined no prejudicial effect resulted from the mistakes. Also, each case is a good example of the proper use of identification exhibits in cross-examination. Both the Texas case and the North Carolina case involved somewhat similar situations to the case at hand, where a mistaken reference was made to an unadmitted exhibit as admitted evidence. In both cases, the appellate courts found the errors harmless. In the Pennsylvania case, the court determined that even though the unadmitted evidence had entered the jury room, the jury had already been exposed to it when the Commonwealth made references to it as an identification exhibit during trial and the trial court instructed the jury the exhibit should play no role in its decision. Here, the prejudicial effect was much less, considering the fact that the exhibit was not given to the jury at all. On the contrary, when the jury asked for the exhibit, it was instructed by the trial court, "I make certain determinations about the admissibility of documents. You have everything you can see. Don't draw any inferences from it." (R. p.175, lines 3-7.)

Appellant argues in his brief that the South Carolina Rules of Evidence only permitted the State to ask Appellant what he saw in the back seat of the car and then had to accept his response without resorting to extrinsic evidence to impeach him. However, this argument applies to specific acts of conduct pursuant to Rule 608(b), SCRE: "Specific instances of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness' credibility, other than conviction of crime as provided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence." This rule is inapplicable to the case at hand because the tow sheet was not an instance of conduct.

Appellant argues specifically that the State relied upon the tow sheet in its closing argument to discredit Appellant's testimony regarding his position in the car. When the

State referred to the tow sheet as evidence in its closing, Appellant objected on the basis of “Arguing item not in evidence.” After an off-the-record bench conference, the State continued its closing, referring to “this tow sheet that the Defense put in without contest.” One can only speculate about what the trial court’s ruling was, but this next reference by the State seems to demonstrate the trial court allowed the State to refer to the tow sheet as being “put in without contest” but not as evidence, thus sustaining the objection. At that point, it was Appellant’s duty to request that the trial court instruct the jury to disregard the improper conduct. See 75 Am. Jur. 2d *Trial* § 426 (“It is misconduct on the part of counsel, including a prosecuting attorney, to exhibit to a jury objects or items not introduced in evidence, although such misconduct is not necessarily so prejudicial so as to require a reversal or a new trial. As a general rule, in order to predicate error upon such misconduct, the complaining party must make timely objection in the trial court at the time the misconduct occurs, **and must request the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the improper conduct.**”).

Appellant also argues the fact that the jury sent a note to the trial court requesting the tow sheet shows “the jury clearly focused on this information during its deliberations.” However, the trial judge cured any potential error by telling the jury she had already made decisions about the admissibility of documents, they had everything they could see, and not to draw any inferences from it. “Generally, a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error.” State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 658, 623 S.E.2d 122, 129 (Ct. App. 2005). Significantly, Appellant did not object to the trial court’s instructions to the jury on this matter; thus, this particular issue is not preserved. “Because a trial court’s curative instruction is considered to cure any error regarding improper testimony, a party must contemporaneously object to a curative instruction as

insufficient or move for a mistrial to preserve an issue for review.” State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 850 (Ct. App. 1999).

In sum, the trial court did not err in permitting the State to impeach Appellant with the same document that had been used by Appellant to question another witness and introduced as an identification exhibit by Appellant. Furthermore, the document contained information that had already been presented through testimony. Moreover, no unfair prejudice resulted from the State’s inadvertent reference to the tow sheet as evidence in its closing argument, and the trial court’s instruction following the jury’s request to view the tow sheet was proper. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling on this issue.

II.

The trial court correctly sustained the State's objection to Appellant's questioning Deputy Cain on excessive force because the record does not reflect whether litigation was contemplated. Furthermore, Appellant was able to develop the issue of bias in other ways during his cross-examination of Deputy Cain so the limitation did not result in unfair prejudice.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in preventing Appellant from cross-examining Deputy Cain regarding the details of excessive force used by him when arresting Appellant and the possibility of a lawsuit where Appellant sought to impeach him by showing bias, prejudice, or motive to misrepresent. However, the record does not reflect whether Appellant was contemplating a civil lawsuit. Moreover, Appellant was able to elicit testimony from Deputy Cain on cross-examination regarding the amount of force used in his arrest of Appellant. Thus, any error in the trial court's limitation of cross-examination was harmless.

“This Court will not disturb a trial court's ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, every criminal defendant has a right to “to be confronted with the witnesses against him” during trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI. “Specifically included in a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is the right to meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses.” State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 385, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994). This right guarantees to a criminal defendant the opportunity to cross-examine the witnesses against him concerning bias. State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 450, 602 S.E.2d 62, 71 (Ct. App. 2004), aff'd as modified on other grounds, 373 S.C.

601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007); see also Rule 608(c), SCRE (“Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.”).

When cross-examining a witness in regards to the potential for bias, considerable latitude must be allowed. Gillian, 360 S.C. at 450, 602 S.E.2d at 71. Any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality of the witness. State v. Brewington, 297 S.C. 97, 101, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976). Limitations placed on a defendant’s ability to cross-examine a witness constitute a Confrontation Clause violation when the defendant is prohibited from engaging in “**otherwise appropriate cross-examination**” designed to show a prototypical form of bias from which jurors could draw inferences relating to the reliability of the witness. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 680 (1986) (emphasis added). “The appropriate question under a Confrontation Clause analysis is whether there has been any interference with the defendant’s opportunity for effective cross-examination at trial.” Gillian, 360 S.C. at 450, 602 S.E.2d at 71.

However, although a defendant is entitled to an opportunity for meaningful cross-examination, the scope of that cross-examination still rests in the trial judge’s sound discretion. State v. Whitner, 380 S.C. 513, 519, 670 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct. App. 2008). A defendant’s right to confront the witnesses against him does not deprive the trial judge of his usual discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination. State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693, 698 (2007). Trial judges may impose reasonable limitations on cross-examination designed to show bias “based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, witness’s safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant.” State v. Jenkins, 322 S.C. 360, 364, 474

S.E.2d 812, 814 (Ct. App. 1996). The limitation of cross-examination constitutes reversible error only if the defendant establishes unfair prejudice resulted from the limitation. State v. Brown, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991).

Appellant argues, based on State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 331, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983), “Evidence of contemplated litigation is relevant and admissible to demonstrate bias.” However, the Supreme Court found in McFarlane that “the record fail[ed] to reflect whether or not litigation was contemplated.” Id. The Court determined “appellant should have asked the trial judge to excuse the jury so appellant could make an offer of proof.” Id. Because of his failure to do so, combined with the overwhelming evidence of guilt, the Court found even if the trial court’s ruling was error, it was harmless and not prejudicial. Id.

In the case sub judice, Appellant proffered Deputy Cain’s testimony regarding whether he had used excessive force on Appellant and even questioned him regarding whether he could face civil liability, be reprimanded, or be criminally prosecuted if Appellant wanted to proceed with excessive force charges. However, defense counsel did not proffer any testimony from Appellant as to whether he was contemplating litigation. As the trial court correctly pointed out to defense counsel here, “You have to have a good faith basis in asking those questions and some underlying factors to support it and it simply is not apparent, nor has it been elicited in this case.” (R. p.84, lines 8-11.) Defense counsel could have, at that point, called Appellant to proffer whether he was contemplating a civil suit. However, he did not. Therefore, just as in McFarlane, the record here fails to demonstrate whether a lawsuit was contemplated. Additionally, the trial court told defense counsel he could have asked the deputy if he was aggravated or whether Appellant got on his nerves because he had to chase him down.

(R. p.85, lines 19-25; R. p.86, lines 1-4.) The trial court told defense counsel he would have let him ask those types of questions to explore Deputy Cain's credibility. (R. p.86, lines 7-10.) Accordingly, any error in the trial court's ruling is harmless and not prejudicial.

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